Narrative - Allen Chapel
Bryan, Texas

By: Callie Turner and John P. Blair
November, 2011

. CONTEXT

The roots for the African Methodist Episcopal (ABY) Church began in 1787 at
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Led by a 27—year otcthér slave, Richard Allen, a group
of people of African descent politely walked outSif Edwards Methodist Episcopal
Church due to inhuman treatment and discriminatibnese individuals had a growing
sense of dignity and self-respect. They wantethsoecognition and to be more
involved in the church services of the worship @ldG They also sought the ability to
express themselves in their own unique ways. 88Wllen purchased an old
blacksmith shop and moved it to Sixth and Lombdrde® in Philadelphia. This
structure was organized as the Bethel A.M.E. Charchbecame the first place of
worship owned by African Americans in the Unitedt8s. Today the edifice that stands
there is known as “Mother Bethel” and is one of iistoric Shrines of Philadelphta.

The African Americans who started the Church weny poor and most could
not read or write. In an effort towards self-impement, Allen conducted night school
classes to teach many to read and write. Thugatidn became one of the church’s
strongest commitments to its community, which cmngis to this day. Members are
encouraged to seek higher education and ministeneeguired to have at least a
Bachelor of Arts.

Later other African American churches were stamealtimore, Maryland;

Salem, New Jersey; Attleboro, Pennsylvania; andniidigton, Delaware. In 1816 these



churches came together and formed what is now krasanthe African Methodist
Episcopal Church.

Methodist churches are characterized by theiahdgical structure. Individual
congregations are grouped together into districtsthen into conferences, with
administrative officials including presiding eldensd bishops. This makes up the
Connectional Church. Prior to the Civil War theMAE. was not allowed to operate in

Texas or in most of the south.

II. OVERVIEW

The history of Methodism among African Americanslexas predates the Civil
War. The earliest known congregation, Reedy Chapé&alveston, was founded as a
branch of the Methodist Episcopal Church, South848>

In Brazos County, little is known about the da#jigious life of residents prior to
the Civil War, white or black. Antebellum congrégas in the county consisted of
Baptist, Methodist and Presbyterian faiths. Metsibchurches were located in the
communities of Alexander, Millican and Boonvill&nd, while nothing is known
currently of the racial composition of the Alexande Millican churches, the Boonville
congregation had many African American members—tpacommon throughout the
pre-Civil War SoutH'

The earliest known African American minister ireBos County was Manuel
Hammitt, a slave later known as Reverend Emmanaeiritt. According to
documents, Hammitt first preached under the supenviof a white minister, Reverend

W. S. South, on June 26, 1864 at Wheelock in Reber€ounty, Texas.Hammitt



would continue to preach the gospel under the aasmf South at many locations
throughout neighboring Brazos County; however dythis period, ministers, both white
and black, could only preach to slaves with theiner's permission. Some planters
feared that the ministers would speak about freedAraonvention of white men in
Dallas, in 1858, said concerning preachers advagaiiolition:

“Resolved, That we deny the existence of any sthédfairs among us

that would warrant the effort on the part of Northehurches, benevolent

or aid societies to send us those ‘wolves in slseepthing’ who, with

Bible in hand and evil in their hearts, go fortleg@ching the most

dangerous and insurrectionary doctrines; and teatevnot accord to any

such societies the privilege to interfere with oghts and institutions,

manners and customs. That we are opposed togkerre of such

persons among us, and will expel them from our (oomity) as a public

nuisance.®

Following emancipation and the end of the war, ynaflican American churches
were organized in Brazos County. Those locateterrural areas often consisted of
cheaply constructed building erected by landlondsrder to keep the Negroes close to
home on weekends and holidays. Some buildingspieduno more than one room
measuring 20x40 feet and most were never pairntée. pews were straight-backed
benches and only a very few had a musical instriofesiny kind. These churches left
little documentary history. Even the early congtémns in the city of Bryan produced

few records and most of the local newspapers sffiiiod have been lost.



Allen Chapel A.M.E. Church in Bryan chose its naméonor of Richard Allen.
While the first use of this name is found in 188@® congregation may have taken the
name much earlier. As a result, some uncertaxistewhen trying to decipher the
organizational history of this churéh.

Oral tradition among both the members of Allen @Hand the Shiloh Baptist
church states that the first African American megplace in Bryan consisted of a “brush
arbor” where the Baptists and the Methodists tawkd holding services on alternate
Sundays. The published history of Allen Chapekgia founding year of 1873, but
evidence indicates that the congregation existixt fw that time. Perhaps the
congregation took the name “Allen Chapel” in 18 %Bhile various sources demonstrate
that the commonly quoted date of 1873 is incorneahe provide the actual founding
date. Since Shiloh Baptist bought land in 1870 @ntstructed their first building in
1872, this seems to imply that the A.M.E. congriegedid exist at least by 1870.

Further evidence supports an earlier date as Ralverend Hammitt returned to
Bryan after having been sent to Galveston in 18d6etordained a deacon in the
Methodist Episcopal Church South. While in Galeaeshe met Reverend Molliston
Madison Clark, who after providing him with the toig/ of the A.M.E. Church,
persuaded Hammitt to transfer his membership todiganization. In Bryan Hammitt
was surprised to learn that local blacks “becardegymant at the name African” and
“thirty-seven left him at one time” over this issude persisted and “succeeded, however
at least in affecting an organization, and thussilie of the church were laid in Bryan.”

Thus, it seems difficult to argue against the dgsethat a church exists once it has both



a congregation and a minister, and would supperiyéar 1866 as the beginning of the
Allen Chapel congregation in Bryah.

Hammitt performed many marriages between Novem8gl866 and October
17, 1867. He also taught school, first at the iigton Plantation, and then later at the
Wilson Plantation. This was the beginning of aadiss’ long involvement of members
of Allen Chapel with educational efforts in the é&frican American community. One
of the Chapel’'s most notable educators was ArthuCéiwell. Born in Louisiana,
Colwell came to Bryan in 1885 to accept the positis superintendent of the city’s
school for African Americans. A gifted musiciaml@ell also assisted in the publication
of theBryan Republicana short-lived local paper for African Americars. 1894, he
ran unsuccessfully on the Republican ticket forlegas State Superintendent of Public
Instruction*

At the Annual Conference of the A.M.E. Church held@&alveston in October
1868, some of the local ministers present includachmitt, Charles B. Foster, and
Campbell Siler. It was Foster who would evenguggplace Hammitt?

Foster, too, performed many marriages beginninguiy2, 1868 through May 1,
1873. In fact, on November 17, 1872, the couatprds note that Foster performed a
marriage at “the African church in Bryan.” Fostentinued the precedent in promoting
education established by his predecessor by supgdahie work of the Freedmen’s
Bureau. By April 1868 Foster was serving as altenat the Bryan Freedmen’s School,
and in August he made an attempt to have a suitahl@ng constructed to be used as
both a school and church. Both James Adams andaidCanton contracted to repair

the existing structure. The remodeled building tealsave eight windows, six lights, two



doors, and thirty benches, nine feet long and ooeHigh. They were to receive $230 to
cover the cost of material. It is not known if fisnwere ever obtained or whether the
finished building conformed to the original spegfiions'>

Foster also held services for the A.M.E. congtiegah the federal schoolhouse,
which was located on present-day Military DriveBryan. Thus, the Freedmen’s school
building was the Allen Chapel’'s second meeting @land most likely where Foster
hosted and presided over the second Quarterly @orde of the African Methodist
Church of Bryan on Saturday May 15, 1869. BrofReSloan was chosen as secretary
for this meeting and his report included the folilegvdetails: standard disciplinary
guestions were asked; there were 35 new membdurBvsitill on probation; the minister
received $35 in pay; there was one Sunday schdbl&@ pupils; and, while nothing had
been collected for building purposes or repairstetwas a debt owed of $37.80.

Foster was also active in local civic and politiifd. Purchasing three town lots
in 1869 from William Joel Bryan, Foster residednihat was then referred to as
“Freedmantown.” In June 1870, he obtained an app@nt from the governor of Texas
to serve as an alderman for the city of Bryan—drievo African Americans at the time.
Two years later, Foster was forced to flee Brygoeagntly due to legal problems. At that
time white Texans sometimes misused the legal sy&ieattack prominent African
Americans. This was done, for example against T&tate Senator Matthews Gaines, as
well as one of Brazos County’s other ministers,lié/Nan Hook. Foster willed his land
to his wife, Lettie, and not long afterwards theytbdisappeared from the historical

record®®



The deed for the first known land purchased byAté.E. congregation, which
was filed in the Brazos County courthouse in J@8yQ, states:

“I, Harvey Mitchell in consideration of my desir@ promote welfare of

the African Methodist Episcopal Church in Bryantdgeby convey to

James Adams, Peter Huffman and Horace Hubbardieesisf said

church for the purpose of erecting thereon a hofisership, a lot of land

one hundred feet square in the western cornendfilaBrazos County

Texas conveyed to me in March last by Guy M. Brgad adjacent to the

tract on which Alfred Smith Freedman now residedjdve...as long as

the said lot and the house and the houses to beotherected shall be

exclusively used and occupied for purpose of religiworship and no

longer. ...*®

This definitely proves that the A.M.E. Church hadasganized board of
trustees and was functioning as a church in 1870.

TheHistory of Allen Chapel African Methodist Episco@diurchnotes that the
first building constructed as a church was locatediorth Houston and east"2Street
in Bryan. This property, identified as lots 1-#hdk 54, was purchased from G. W.
Green on June 13, 1878. The trustees had preyipusthased lots 1 and 2, block 56—
located between Preston and Wedt Sfreet—in 1870. This first church building also
served briefly as a schoolhouse for African Amarichildren following the destruction
of their school by fire in 1914. The property onudton Street has contained all the

succeeding church buildings of this congregatiothi® day*’



The second church was built in 1920 under thersigpen of Reverend A.J.
Smith. It consisted of a frame building with a ctarary, pastor’s study and choir room
on the first floor; balcony and two classrooms werated on the second floor. The
windows in the front of the church were stainedsglaThe Masonic Lodge laid the
cornerstone for the church on February 29, 1920ea8:00pm service where Reverend
D. H. Shivers, pastor of Shiloh Baptist Church goteed the sermon. A dedicatory
Service was later held on May 26, 1920 with thehRigeverend William D. Johnson,
Bishop of the 10th Episcopal District of the A.ME&hurch preaching the sermon.
Johnson also baptized six infants and small childtethis servicé®

In 1923 Allen Chapel defaulted on its mortgagenpawts, the property was
foreclosed on and the local newspaper even pulbliatgheriff's Notice for Sale of the
property. There existed at that time a real pdgsithat the church and land would be
sold at auction to satisfy the debt. Various afspfma donations were made, mass
meetings were held and eventually enough contobstivere received to avert the sale.
Some of those donating included the Methodist Woorganization, members of the
various African American churches, individuals, @wen the Ku Klux Klan. The church
later published its gratitude in tlB#yan Daily Eagle The congregation constructed a
new parsonage sometime in the 1930s under the\dsiperof Reverend O.H. Benn3.

The third and current church building was builtP61. Dedicatory services for
the church were held April 9, 1961 and at 3:00 phra.church was set apart for worship
of God and the service of man. Bishop W.F. Balihef Tenth Episcopal District of the
A.M.E. Church provided the sermon. H.L. Boyd was presiding elder and S.L. Berry

served as the pastor of the congregation at that tiThe cornerstone service was held at



Shiloh Baptist on May 19, 1961, where Reverend Cslidrt, pastor, delivered the
sermon. Later, the processional departed Shilghi&ao Allen Chapef®

Under the leadership of Reverend Dubyuer Harrigy tvdd been named the new
pastor of the church at the 102nd Session of thbad Annual Conference convened at
Allen Chapel from October 30—November 3, 1968,dmarch’s indebtedness was
liquidated on April 30, 1971—following the eleveriBattle of Flowers” fundraiser.
Two years later, the Reverend W.D. Turner led tiregeegation’s efforts to remodel the
parsonage and added cushions to the existing clpeneh. Even though the church
continued to struggle financially it remained stiaatlin its support to local
organizations, such as the NAACP, Bryan Charityd;Bickle Cell Anemia
Foundation, Bethune Woman’s Club, Gideon Orgaripadis well as families in neéd.

In 1975, the church treasurer and trustee PleseFuam for city council and
won—the first African American citizen to serve @nReconstruction. Another
politically active member of the congregation wamg Fay Jefferson who attended
many Democratic Conventions and presidential ineatgans. The debt incurred for the
parsonage remodeling was liquidated in 1977 wherchlurch again borrowed money to
purchase new furniture and window air conditionimgis for the parsonage. A year
later, a public address system was eventually @sexh for the church, the parsonage was
painted and repairs were made to the parsonaggefara

Allen Chapel has a youth choir and an active Sursgaygol and Youth
Department. In 1984 it established a men’s coolgmgip. The church continues to
fellowship with other local congregations with atsoirom each church choosing two

alternating selections. When Reverend J.L. WodKfauived in September 1986, he



served until November 1989 and it was during hisite that new Bibles were purchased
for the church as well as new robes for the chaniig a new typewriter. His wife,

First Lady Woodfaulk, led the church in a celelmatio honor the Rev. Dr. Martin

Luther King Jr. and Ms. Rosa Parks each Jantiary.

After Reverend C.L. Boyd became pastor in 1993w roof was put on the
parsonage and a new copy machine was purchasstiL&dty Lillian Boyd, a talented
singer, added much inspiration to the church whmenistroduced a new Easter Program
entitled “Women In Red.” This program, held ev®alm Sunday evening, witnessed the
women of the congregation dressed in red to symbaoltie Blood of Christ. She also
introduced “Seven Last Words From the Cross” ond3eaday nights with seven
ministers taking the pulpit to preach from the enies of Christ’'s Passion. The proceeds
from both these programs were used for the Missiomaollege scholarship fund.

Pastor Boyd retired from the ministry in Octobe®3%nd the Reverend Barry Spencer
was assigned to the church. Spencer was a gseahary but due to lack of funds most
of his ideas never came to pass. He, howeverthvesfirst to really teach and stress the
importance of tithing to the congregation. Speratso started a Men’s Bible Study
group?*

When Reverend Robert Louis Jeffries became pastt®97, he decided to
change meeting frequency of the Official Board nmgst He also oversaw the
installation of hardwood flooring in the parsonagel plans were made to remodel the
church bathrooms; however this unfortunately, wagen accomplished under this

administration. In August of 1998 under Jeffridg'adership, the Women’s Missionary

10



Society gave vouchers to 100 children to purchaseot three pairs of back-to-school
shoes™

Allen Chapel’s current pastor Reverend Fred PaairBJr. was given the charge
in October 2002. He executed the plan to remdaebathrooms and a handicap facility
was added. Blair also directed the installation@i flooring in the fellowship hall, a
new roof on the church and the remodeling of tihehkin cabinets. Today, the church
continues to fellowship on every third Sunday emggiwith Shiloh Baptist Church,
North Bryan New Birth Baptist Church and Pleasardav@ Baptist Church with proceeds
from these gatherings going to assist the needlysofommunity. The parsonage was

demolished in 2008

[11. HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

Allen Chapel African Methodist Episcopal Churclaraong the oldest continuing
churches in Brazos County. While the minutes @0l8onference of the Texas African
Methodist Episcopal Church, held in Huntsville, #re first to mention “Allen Chapel”
of Bryan, oral history gives the date of the chisgossible organization as 1873.
However, legal and other well-kept records poira tauch earlier date. Reverend
Richard Emanuel Hammitt, a newly ordained A.M.Enister, conducted religious
observances and services upon his arrival in Biyd866. If the formation of a church
is measured by the presence of a minister and gregation, then Allen Chapel would
be one of the earliest organized A.M.E. congregatia the State of Texas.

Allen Chapel, with its various programs, scholgpshiand schools contributes to

the field of education in the local community, retstate and nation, as well as
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internationally; thus continuing the legacy lefttyg Church’s founder, Richard Allen.

In fact, Arthur H. Colwell, a church member, whowesl as the superintendent of
Bryan’s school for African Americans beginning i88b, ran unsuccessfully as the
Republican candidate for the Texas Superintendelatiocation in 1894. Over the years
Allen Chapel has produced several ministers, youag and women who grew up in
Bryan and include: Charles W. Jackson, Joe TolMeCoy Ramson, Ralph Campbell,
Ruby Harris, Freddie Carter Jr., and J.W. Fordwlhio is now the presiding elder of the
Tyler district. The church also supports localrdies and community initiatives to
improve the lives of those with special needs. Anpins with other local
denominations for shared services and functions.

Church membership has diminished over the yearsaldeaths, young people
going away for college and remaining to work irgkarcities, some people preferring
larger churches and only a few new members. Howélien Chapel remains blessed to
possess life-time members, others of long tenukeedisas sixth and seventh generation
members who continue to attend regularly. The negmbf Allen Chapel believe they
have made an impact on the lives of countless iddals throughout the church’s
history, and will continue to do so. With God’dfhand guidance they know they will

be able to do even greater things in the future.
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